OA 11/8/90

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

D. L. CULLIFER AND SON, INC. and LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Employer/Carrier/Petitioners,

VS.

PABLO MARTINEZ,

Employee/Respondent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This case is to be reviewed under the express and direct conflict provision of article V, section 3(b (3) of the Florida Constitution and is based on the employer/carrier's contention that the First District Court of Appeal's decision expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision in Murphy v. Peninsular Life Insurance Co., 299 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1974).

During the initial appeal of these cases, the parties agreed that the record supported the findings of fact contained in the JCC's order (with the single exception of the JCC's finding that the paramount reason Navarro helped to push the car was to be friendly and courteous rather than because he was responding to a command from his supervisor (Navarro Record 546)). Accordingly, the employer/carrier offer the following statement of facts from the JCC's order found at R 311 through 316:

The employer, D. L. Cullifer & Son, Inc., is in the business of harvesting citrus fruit and transporting citrus fruit from groves where it was picked to processing or packing plants. The employer's customers are persons or businesses who have an interest in a crop of citrus fruit and wish the fruit to be picked and transported to a packing house or processing plant. The employer's customers are limited to this relatively small group and the employer in no way deals with the general public.

In order to perform its work, the employer hires persons to pick fruit and to operate the mechanical equipment associated with the harvesting of the fruit. Customarily and in this case, a picking crew is supervised by a person called a crew leader. The picking crew was furnished with equipment such as a bus or van to transport the pickers to or from the groves to be picked, picking ladders, fruit tubs, and a vehicle equipped with a hydraulic lift to move fruit tubs, which is commonly known as a "goat." The

employee, Pablo Martinez, was employed by the employer as a crew leader. It was his job to see that pickers were transported to and from the grove to be picked and that the picking of the fruit was accomplished. Mr. Martinez also kept records as to the fruit that was picked, drove the bus, operated the goat, and had some responsibility to the employer to see to it that the equipment, including fruit tubs, was maintained and not lost or destroyed.

Pickers, after picking fruit, would dump their fruit into fruit tubs which are round tubs made of plastic with a metal rim around the top which can be lifted by the hydraulic equipment of the goat and dumped into another vehicle so that the fruit can be transported from the grove to the packing house or processing plant.

On June 18, 1988, the picking crew supervised by the employee [Martinez] was picking fruit in a grove located in Polk County which was known as the "Fiel Grove." On that day, the crew finished picking fruit in the Fiel Grove so that on the following day, June 19, 1988, the crew supervised by the employee picked fruit in another grove which was located in Osceola County.

On the evening of June 18, 1988, one of the pickers in the employee's crew, Felix Trejo-Munoz, went back to the Fiel Grove to find a picking hook which belonged to him which he had inadvertently left in the grove. Felix was transported to the Fiel Grove by Esteban Trejo-Olguin in Esteban's pickup truck. While in the grove searching for the fruit hook, Felix noticed a fruit tub which had apparently been left in the grove by the employee's crew.

On the following day, June 19, 1988, Felix told the employee of the fruit tub that had been left in the grove. At the end of the day's work at the grove in Osceola County, the employee drove the bus used to transport pickers to and from the grove back to the community of Wahneta in Polk County. He parked the bus there and then went to the Fiel Grove to search for the fruit tub. The trip to the Fiel Grove was made in Esteban's pickup truck and the employee was accompanied by Esteban, Felix, and Mario Navarro, another picker in the employee's crew.

Upon arriving at the Fiel Grove, the four men commenced to search for the fruit tub. Esteban drove the pickup truck back into the grove some distance, but

was unable to go further into the grove due to the sandy soil. Esteban then drove the truck back to the highway in front of the grove and waited for the other three men who were searching for the fruit tub to look through the grove and come back to the road.

The employee, Mario and Felix, could not find the They then returned to the outer edge of the grove adjacent to the highway and commenced walking on the outer edge of the grove to Esteban's pickup truck, which was some distance from them. At this time, the three men observed an automobile that was on the opposite side of the road from them and was apparently There were two men at this automobile who are only able to be described by any of the witnesses as "Americans." One or both of the Americans" called to the employee, Felix and Mario, and requested assistance in pushing their car along the highway. employee, Felix and Mario, then left the grove, crossed the road, and commenced to help push the disabled vehicle. At this time, the driver of an automobile traveling on the highway apparently saw the vehicle that the three men were pushing along with the two "Americans," swerved to avoid striking the disabled vehicle and instead, struck the employee and Mario.

Neither the employee, Mario, or Felix had ever seen the two '"Americans" before the accident occurred and there is no evidence that the two "Americans" had anything at all to do with the business of the employer or even were known to the employer.

When asked why they chose to assist in the pushing of the disabled vehicle, both the employee and Mario testified that they did so simply because they were asked to by the "Americans."

There is no evidence at all that the employer had any interest in its employees assisting motorists with disabled vehicles. There was no significant public relations or good will benefit to be derived from such activities which would be of any benefit to the employer. The employer neither condoned nor encouraged its employees to assist motorists with disabled vehicles. The disabled vehicle was not blocking the roadway nor did it in any way impair access to and from the Fiel Grove.

By assisting in the pushing of the disabled vehicle, neither the employee nor the employer derived any benefit, either personal or business. The employee certainly did not fulfill any personal need by pushing

the disabled vehicle and there is no evidence that pushing the vehicle was of any benefit at all to the employer.

In order to push the disabled vehicle, the employee had to leave the relative safety of the grove where he was not exposed to the danger of being struck by an automobile on the highway and cross the highway and put himself in a position of danger while pushing a disabled vehicle on the highway. This was not a hazard of his employment which was customarily performed in citrus groves. The only time that the employee was on a highway as part of his employment would be when he was either operating the bus or the goat traveling to or from a grove. The risk involved in these activities is significantly different and substantially less than the risk involved in pushing a disabled vehicle on a highway.

The injury suffered by the employee would not have occurred while he was performing the usual duties of his employment with the employer. The injury suffered by the employee in the accident which I have described was in no way a reasonably foreseeable consequence of his fulfilling the duties of his employment. There simply is no evidence at all that by helping to move the disabled vehicle, the employer's business was in any way furthered or that it was customary for the employee's workers to assist disabled motorists or that the employer encouraged its employees to assist disabled motorists or condoned such activity.

In the accident, Navarro suffered a comminuted fracture of the right tibia-fibula (Navarro Record 85) and Martinez was rendered a C-4 quadriplegic (R 10-11, 192). The employer/carrier raised as a defense to the compensability of both claims that the employees had deviated from the course and scope of their employment at the time of the accident on the grounds that the efforts on the part of the employees to help the third persons with the stalled car were in no way an attempt to generate good will or in any other way of benefit to their employer and such an act had never been encouraged or condoned by the employer

(R 19-21). The employees contended on the other hand that the employees were traveling employees who were entitled to be covered by compensation at all times, home to home, but in this particular instance they were on a special mission to retrieve the tub which would entitle them to compensation even if they were engaged in some other small activity, and that, if there was any deviation from employment, it was minimal and not substantial (R 18, 19). In his final order denying the compensability of both claims, the JCC reasoned that:

Under the circumstances which I have found to be the facts of this claim, I am compelled to find that the employee had deviated from the course and scope of his employment when he was injured while assisting a motorist pushing a disabled car on the evening of June 19, 1988 and that for this reason, the employer and carrier are not required to pay workers' compensation benefits to the employee, Turcotte v. Fowler & Torrance Concrete & Masonry, 507 So.2d 784, and Murphy v. Peninsular Life Insurance Company, 299 So.2d 3.

The decision to deny the claim of the employee is difficult as the employee suffered very severe injuries as a result of the accident described above. It is certainly not my intention to be in any way critical of the employee going to the assistance of the "Americans" with the disabled motor vehicle. I am compelled by the facts of this claim and the applicable law to find that the employee's deviation from his employment was a significant and substantial deviation which was not foreseeable by the employer and which took him from a place of relative safety in a grove onto a highway where he, as a pedestrian, exposed himself to the dangers of a highway as a pedestrian which was not a risk of his employment or in any way associated with the duties of his employment. (R 314-316)

The separate appeals that were timely filed by Martinez (R 67) and Navarro (Navarro Record 50), were consolidated by an order entered by the First District Court of Appeal on August 18, 1989.

On February 13, 1990, the First District issued the opinion contained in Appendix A reversing the decision of the JCC in this case on the basis that Rockhaulers, Inc. v. Davis, 554 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), was dispositive of the compensability issue The First District based its decision on its determination that these employees, like the employee in Rockhaulers, were the first to arrive at the scene of a true emergency, that these employees had assisted in removing a disabled vehicle which posed a hazard to other travelers, that the very nature of the employees' employment brought them to a place where a rescue attempt was required by ordinary standards of humanity and that the employees' actions were reasonable and expected behavior In its decision reversing the JCC's under the circumstances. decision in this case, the First District entered a footnote stating that it had considered this Court's decision in Murphy v. Peninsular Life Insurance Co. and found it "factually dissimilar" without discussing what, in the court's view, the factual dissimilarities were.

On March 8, 1989, the employer/carrier timely filed their notice invoking the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on the basis of the express and direct conflict provision of article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution since the employer/carrier believed that the First District's decision in this case expressly and directly conflicted with this Court's earlier decision in Murphy. On the July 5, 1990, this Court entered an order accepting jurisdiction in this case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

First District Court of Appeal's decision under consideration here reached the opposite result from that reached by this Court in Murphy v. Peninsular Life Insurance Co., 299 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1974), on facts which were substantially on all fours with the facts in Murphy. If the First District Court of Appeal had been the court which initially decided Murphy, the First District's opinion in this case would have had the effect of overruling its prior decision in Murphy. There is no question, therefore, that the First District's decision in this case expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's earlier decision in Murphy. To allow such a conflict to stand uncorrected will only serve to create confusion in the Florida Worker's Compensation Law.

Not only does the First District's opinion in this case conflict with this Court's decision in Murphy, the material facts in this case are easily distinguishable from those in the decision of Rockhaulers, Inc. v. Davis, 554 so.2d 654 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), which the First District found controlling in this case. In Rockhaulers, the employee was the first to arrive at the scene of a head-on collision and he was injured when he was attempting to assist the accident victims. Here, on the other hand, when the employees went to assist in pushing the disabled vehicle, no accident had yet occurred, no one had been injured, and there was no other indication that the situation encountered

involved serious risk of personal injury or loss of life to anyone. Consequently, there was no "true emergency" here and the First District's earlier decision in <u>Rockhaulers</u> did not compel a finding of compensability on the facts of this case.

Not only are the facts in this case clearly distinguishable from the facts in Rockhaulers, the record here is devoid of any evidence to support the First District's determination that two stranded motorists with a disabled vehicle constituted a "true emergency" or that the situation posed a hazard to other travelers. In fact, the employees never contended at trial or during the initial appeal that the injuries were suffered during an emergency rescue. The first time the term "emergency" is applied by anyone to the facts of this case was when the First District issued its opinion on February 13, 1990.

At trial and in the initial appeal, the employees argued that the injuries should be found compensable under several different doctrines including the special errand rule, the dual purpose doctrine and the traveling employee doctrine, and they contended that the deviation was insubstantial under the holdings of the personal comfort doctrine cases. The employer/carrier can only assume that the First District was not convinced that any of the above doctrines or arguments had any application here since the court seems to have labeled the situation a "true emergency" in order to support its finding that the employees' actions were reasonable and expected behavior in this case. Be that as it may, the fact remains that the JCC's findings of fact contained

in the order under consideration were supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record and should have been affirmed by the First District Court of Appeal. To allow the decision in this case to stand will have the practical effect of making every employer the insurer of any employee simply by virtue of the employment relationship regardless of the employee's activities or his reason for engaging in those activities at the time of his injury. That has never been the purpose or design of the Florida Workers' Compensation Act. Since the Workers' Compensation Act requires that for an injury to be compensable, injuries must arise out of and in the course of an employee's employment, the legislature obviously intended that industry would bear the burden of paying for injuries caused by industry, but would not be financially responsible for those that were not. The "arising out of and in the course of employment" requirement has never been removed from the act by the legislature and it should not now be removed by the court regardless of the sympathy evoked by this tragic situation.

The First District Court of Appeal's opinion reversing the JCC in this case should be reversed because it expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's earlier decision in Murphy, the decision is not compelled by the First District's earlier decision in Rockhaulers, and the record contains absolutely no support for the First District's labeling this situation a true emergency. The JCC's order finding these claims not compensable should be reinstated.

ARGUMENT

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN REVERSING JUDGE OF COMPENSATION CLAIMS' RULING THAT INJURIES SUFFERED IN THE SUBJECT ACCIDENT WERE COMPENSABLE WHEN: (1)THEJUDGE OF COMPENSATION CLAIMS! FINDING THAT AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT **EMPLOYEES** HAD DEVIATED FROM THEIR **EMPLOYMENT** SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE; FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN MURPHY PENINSULAR LIFE INSURANCE CO., 299 SO.2D 3 (FLA. 1974); AND **(3)** THE RECORD CONTAINS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S THAT THE INJURIES DETERMINATION IN THIS CASE WERE RECEIVED DURING A RESCUE ATTEMPT OCCASIONED BY A "TRUE EMERGENCY."

The employer/carrier are convinced that a review of the record along with consideration of the applicable statutes and current case law will convince this Court that the First District erred in finding that its recent decision in Rockhaulers, Inc. v. Davis, 554 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), controlled its decision here and accordingly required reversal of the decision of the The facts in this case are clearly distinguishable from the facts reflected in the Rockhaulers' decision because it is clear that the employee in Rockhaulers encountered a true emergency to which he was attempting to respond at the time he suffered his fatal injuries. In this case, on the other hand, there is absolutely no record evidence which can logically support the First District's decision that the injuries suffered by these employees were incurred during an accident arising out of an attempted rescue in an emergency situation. More importantly for

purposes of this review, however, is the fact that the First District's opinion in this case expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision in Murphy v. Peninsular Life Insurance Co., 299 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1974), because on substantially the same controlling facts the First District reached the opposite results from that reached by this Court in Murphy. This should not be since district courts of appeal have a duty to follow prior decisions of this Court which have not been overruled by this See e.q, McPhee v. Dade County, 362 So.2d 74 (Fla. 3d DCA Any departure from principles of law decided by the 1978). Supreme Court should be at the hand of the Supreme Court. Reaves v. L. W. Rozzo, Inc., 286 So.2d 221 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973). By reversing the JCC in this case, it appears that the First District also has ignored the well-known principle of law that the decision of a JCC to award or not award benefits should not disturbed if the decision is supported by competent, substantial evidence which accords with logic and reason. Yates v. Gabrio Electric Co., 167 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1964); see also, Gomez v. Neckwear, 424 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Ιt is axiomatic that whether the reviewing court would have come to the same conclusion as the JCC on the record is irrelevant. Richardson v. City of Tampa, 175 So.2d 43 (Fla. 1965). with one minor exception, the parties agree that the JCC's findings of fact are supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record. A review of the JCC's findings of fact and his application of case law to those facts demonstrates that the

JCC's decision that the injuries did not arise out of and in the course of the employees' employment accords with logic and reason. The JCC's decision is entirely consistent with the applicable statutory and current case law of this state, even the case law enunciated in the Rockhaulers' decision. The JCC's decision, therefore, should have been affirmed by the First District Court of Appeal.

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