## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

D. L. CULLIFER AND SON, INC., and LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v .

PABLO MARTINEZ,

Respondent.

D. L. CULLIFER AND SON, INC., and LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

MARIO NAVARRO,

Respondent.

AUG 27 1990
OLERK, SUPPLEME COURT
By
Deputy Clerk

Consolidated Case No. 75,663

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS
On Petition for (Conflict) Review
Directed to the First District Court of Appeal

RICHARD A. KUPFER, ESQ.

WAGNER, NUGENT, JOHNSON, ROTH, ROMANO, ERIKSEN & KUPFER, P.A. Flagler Center Tower, Suite 300 505 South Flagler Drive P. O. Box 3466 West Palm Beach, FL 33402 (407) 655-5200 Counsel for Respondents

-and-

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

(Argument As to Both Claimants)

The <u>Murphy</u> case is distinguishable from this one in several respects and it does — t stand for the general proposition that an injury suffered while assisting a stranger is never compensable. This court simply held in <u>Murphy</u> that the Claimant's activity in that case was not reasonably foreseeable to the Employer.

Murphy did not involve an employee who was on a special errand for the employer, or who was apparently even within the course of employment before he deviated to assist a third person. The accident in Murphy occurred nowhere near the Claimant's jobsite (unlike the present case where it happened just in front of the jobsite). What the claimant did in the Murphy case (climbing up on top of a truck to toss down blocks and then jumping off) was not nearly as foreseeable to the employer as what the Employees here did when they merely acquiesced to take a few steps out of their way to help push a disabled car (that was blocking traffic) off the roadway. In Murphy the claimant temporarily became an implied

worker for the company that employed the truck driver who needed help and, for that reason, left the scope of his employment with his own employer. That factor does not exist in the present case to take these Claimants out of the scope of their employment

The governing caselaw from this court (in the Taylor case, discussed infra) provides that when a claimant is on the highway engaged in a special mission for the employer, a slight deviation does not preclude an accident from being compensable unless the "unreasonable deviation unjustifiable is and under circumstances." In <u>Taylor</u>, a claimant who deviated several blocks to stop by his own house for personal reasons was held **not** to have deviated so substantially as to constitute an abandonment of the special mission. In the present case the deviation was no more than about twenty feet and lasted about two minutes.

The position advocated by the Employer/Carrier would contravene the public policy (embodied in several other statutes) of encouraging altruistic behavior. That policy is now even expressly embodied in the 1990 amendments to Florida's Workers' Compensation Act, which now expressly provides that an employee who responds to an emergency to save life or property does not thereby abandon the course of his employment.

There are also numerous cases from other jurisdictions that recognize the same principle and allow recovery of workers' compensation benefits when: (1) the employee's act is required by ordinary standards of humanity, (2) when it does not significantly interfere with the employee's job duties, (3) when it does not

place the employee in obvious peril, and (4) when it has not been expressly prohibited by the employer. Each of these four factors is satisfied in the present case. Certainly what the employees did in this case, in coming to the aid of the stranded motorists, is something that can reasonably be expected by an employer in the absence of giving contrary instructions to his employees.

The <u>Murphy</u> case does not compel a finding of an abandonment in this case and there is no express and direct conflict created by this case. If, however, this court believes that these two cases, when read in conjunction with eachother, will create confusion in the law, then this court should clarify and limit the <u>Murphy</u> case to its precise facts in order to avoid having it interpreted in ways that would lead to unjustifiable results and would contravene public policy by encouraging human apathy rather than human concern and involvement.

# (Argument As to Navarro Individually)

The First DCA did not address Navarro's separate argument for compensability (since it was not necessary) but it provides an additional basis to uphold the award of benefits to Navarro. According to the uncontroverted testimony of both Navarro and Martinez, Navarro had just been "told" by his superior (Martinez) to help push the car off the road and it was Navarro's duty to obey Martinez's instructions. There is no conflict in the record on this point and no reason cited by the JCC, or apparent from the record, to discredit the testimony of both claimants on this point.

It is well-settled that a JCC cannot reject a claimant's uncontroverted testimony without any explanation or apparent reason for doing so.

## **ARGUMENT**

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN MURPHY V PENINSULAR LIFE INSURANCE CO., 299 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1974)?

(Argument as to Both Claimants)

Since the vote to accept conflict jurisdiction over this case was 4 to 3, which suggests that the issue is perceived to be a close call, we will devote the first section of this brief to a more complete explanation why we believe the First DCA's decision does not expressly and directly conflict with this court's decision in Murphy v Peninsular Life Ins. Co., 299 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1974). If the majority still believe the result in this case, standing next to the Murphy case, will tend to create confusion and instability in the law, then the second section of this brief presents the reasons we believe this court should clarify and limit the Murphy case to its precise facts (if not overrule it as the Legislature has arguably done in its 1990 session), in order to avoid an interpretation that would lead to unjustifiable results and contravene public policy.

The Employer/Carrier first argue that the JCC's order should be affirmed because his findings of fact are supported by competent substantial evidence. That argument only diverts attention from

the real issue. The Claimants have not challenged the JCC's findings of fact (with one exception relating to Mr. Navarro, discussed in the final section of this brief) and the First DCA did not reverse any findings of fact but only the JCC's conclusion of law that he was compelled to find the accident to be noncompensable. The issue before the First DCA was whether the JCC misconceived the legal effect of the evidence, based on his own fact findings. This is not a "competent substantial evidence" case. It is purely a question of law.

The Employer/Carrier next argue that the First DCA erred by determining that this case should be controlled by its own recent decision in Rockhaulers, Inc. v Davis, 554 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). Once again, that is not the issue for this court, but rather, whether this case expressly and directly conflicts with this court's opinion in Murphy, supra.

The Employer/Carrier interpret the <u>Murphy</u> case to stand for the proposition that "an injury suffered while assisting a stranger is not compensable." (Petitioner's Brief, p. 24). That is <u>not</u> what the <u>Murphy</u> case stands for. This court simply held in <u>Murphy</u> that the Claimant's activity in that case was not reasonably foreseeable to the employer. However, there are important factual dissimilarities between this case and the <u>Murphy</u> case, which is the reason the First DCA's opinion here concludes by stating that the court considered the <u>Murphy</u> case but found it factually distinguishable.

The Murphy case, first of all, did not involve a claimant who

was on a special errand for the employer. It involved an employee of an insurance company who was driving in his own car, with another insurance agent, and was on his way to his own home. The accident in <u>Murphy</u> occurred on a highway nowhere near the employee's usual jobsite. Since the claimant in <u>Murphy</u> was just on his way to his home it is not clear why he would be within the scope of his employment even before he stopped his car and got out to help the truck driver. This court, in the <u>Murphy</u> case, did not speak in terms of a "deviation" from what would have otherwise been within the course and scope of employment. One thing for certain is that Murphy was not on a special errand.

In the present case if these employees were not on a special errand for the employer and walking along the highway in front of their worksite, these devastating injuries would not have occurred. The nexus to the actual worksite is much closer here than it was in Murphy. One of the considerations stated in Murphy was whether the courts should "make every street over which a workman might ride a zone of special danger." Id. at 4. That consideration does not apply to a case like this one that happens right in front of the grove where the employees were working, after hours, for their employer.

Additionally, what the claimant did in the <u>Murphy</u> case (climbing up on top of the truck to throw blocks down to the truck driver and then jumping off the top of the truck) was certainly not as foreseeable to his employer as what the employees did here when they merely acquiesced to take a few steps out of their way to help

push off the highway a car that had stalled and was blocking traffic. In <u>Murphy</u> this court simply stated that the injury in that case "was not a reasonably foreseeable consequence of fulfilling the duties of employment." <u>Id.</u> at 4. That does not mean the same is true in every other case when an employee is injured while attempting to assist a third person in what may be considered a more reasonable and foreseeable fashion. Taking a moment to help push a vehicle a few feet off the roadway does not seem like an inherently dangerous thing to do. The same cannot be said of climbing on top of a truck to throw down blocks and jumping off.

The <u>Murphy</u> case is also distinguishable in another significant respect. In <u>Murphy</u>, this court noted that the truck driver who needed help was working for a company and was within the scope of his own employment such that, when the claimant went to his aid, it could be said the claimant acted under an implied contract with the truck driver's employer which would "thus take the claimant out of the course of his employment with his employer." <u>Id</u> at 4. There is some logic to the point that, if the Claimant is impliedly working for the employer of the person he is assisting, he could not simultaneously be working for his own employer as well. However, that rationale does not apply to the present case since there is no evidence that the "Americans" were working for anyone at the time Claimants came to their assistance. Having no other "substitute employer" available to pay workers' compensation benefits distinguishes this case from <u>Murphy</u>, supra, as well as

from another case relied on by the Employer/Carrier; Walgreen Co.
v Lemelin, IRC Order 2-2819 (1974).

The Employer/Carrier do not seem to take issue with the "emergency rescue" doctrine per se, but they argue that this case does not fall into the "emergency" category because no accident had yet occurred when the claimants came across the stalled vehicle. However, the fact that the accident had not yet happened does not mean the stalled vehicle did not constitute a traffic hazard two minutes before the accident actually occurred. The potential danger existed as soon as the Claimants came upon the vehicle and, unfortunately, it became a reality before the car could be completely removed from the highway.

To argue that an "emergency" does not exist until an accident happens would lead to the conclusion that preventative action is

In <u>Walgreen Co. v Lemelin</u>, IRC Order 2-2819 (1974), there was a "substitute employer" who would be responsible for paying workers' compensation benefits to the injured claimant, and the IRC held that "the implied contract of employment with the company whose employee was in need of assistance thus [took] the claimant out of the course of his employment with his employer." Moreover, the risk of personal injury to the security guard in the <u>Lemelin</u> case when he attempted to physically overcome two armed individuals who had already shot one police officer cannot be compared to the apparently innocuous act of helping to push a stalled car off the highway. The risk undertaken by an employee is a factor bearing on the foreseeability of the act to the employer.

Lemelin does not stand for the proposition that all attempts to assist or rescue third parties are not compensable unless it benefits the claimant's own employer. If it did stand for that proposition then the IRC overruled itself four years later in <u>Gill Plumbing</u>, <u>Inc. v Stover</u>, IRC Order 2-3582 (1978) when it ordered compensation benefits to a claimant who was injured while aiding a stranded bus, even though that emergency act had no direct connection to his employment.

not sufficiently important to fall within the emergency rescue doctrine. That does not make sense. An ounce of prevention is worth a pound of post-facto rescue efforts. Moreover, to arque that Claimants never testified about their perception of the potential danger overlooks the obvious. Certainly there was a reason why everyone was pushing the stalled vehicle off the roadway and it does not take a genius to figure out why. The First DCA noted that the stalled vehicle posed a hazard to other travelers. (Employer/Carrier's Appendix, A-3). When a vehicle becomes disabled on a highway, as nightfall is approaching, the act of pushing it off to the side of the road becomes practically instinctive.

The Employer/Carrier cite the testimony of the Claimants that there was still daylight at the time of the accident. (R. 151, 177). The accident happened a little after 8:00 p.m. (R. 151, 176). Obviously there was still enough light for the claimants to be looking for a fruit tub in a grove, but it is just as obvious that by that time of the evening in Florida, even in the summer, it begins to get dark.

The Employer/Carrier assert that the Claimants never before relied on the emergency rescue doctrine until the First DCA discussed it in its opinion. That is not correct. In fact, the rescue doctrine was the main focus of the Claimants' brief filed with the First DCA and it cited numerous "rescue" cases from around the country (some of which are also cited in this brief, at pp. 16-17, infra.) If this court wishes, the Claimants could file copies

of their DCA briefs or, presumably, this court could acquire them directly from the First DCA.

The Employer/Carrier are now, for the first time, raising an alternative reason for denying workers' compensation benefits which they have not articulated up to this point. The Employer/Carrier arque (at p. 14 of their brief) that there is nothing in the record to indicate why the two Americans could not have quickly pushed their own vehicle off the road, or why they needed any assistance from the claimants. If the Employer/Carrier had said anything like that when this case was before the JCC, the Claimants would have rebutted it with testimony from the accident investigation officer who, on his accident report, noted that the disabled car broke down on the crest of a hill and was being pushed on an upgrade incline. One of the Claimants (Navarro) testified that when the Claimants first came upon the vehicle the two motorists "were trying to push their car," (R. 178). The Claimants' co-employee witness (Felix Trejo) testified that one of the Americans was inside the car to steer and the three employees then joined the other American to help push the car off the road. (R. 123).

The Employer/Carrier also now argue for the first time in this case (at p. 18 of their brief), that there is no evidence of the speed of the vehicle that hit the Claimants or the sobriety of the driver, and either one of those could have been the cause of the accident rather than any other inherent danger or emergency. If that had been raised previously, it too would have been rebutted with testimonial evidence. The traffic accident report indicates

that the vehicle that hit the Claimants was traveling 40 MPH in a 55 MPH speed zone, that the driver was not drinking or using drugs, that there was no improper driving involved, and that the broken-down vehicle was obstructing traffic.

The traffic accident report is not contained in the record on appeal and we are not unmindful of the rule that evidence cannot generally be relied upon before an appellate court when it was not introduced in the lower court. However we believe this to be a classic example of the rare exception to that rule. The Employer/Carrier never argued to the JCC that the Americans, by themselves, should have been able to push the car quickly off the (thus implying the road was level); nor road did Employer/Carrier ever before suggest that the driver of the car that hit the claimants may have been drunk or may have been speeding. If any of those suggestions had been raised before the JCC the Claimants would have certainly rebutted it with testimonial evidence from the accident investigation officer. But there was no reason for the Claimants to do so when the Employer/Carrier never took that posture at trial (nor before the First DCA).

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